IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC03-1321

EVERETT WARD MILKS, Petitioner,

v.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN Public Defender

ANTHONY C. MUSTO Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 207535 Office of the Public Defender P. O. Box 9000 - Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 863-534-4200

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Everett Ward Milks was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant on appeal. Respondent State of Florida was the prosecution at trial and the appellee on appeal. The parties will be referred to in this brief as "Mr. Milks" and "the state." The symbol "R" will constitute a reference to the record on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On June 13, 2000, an information was filed in the Sixth Judicial Circuit of Florida charging that on or between March 1 and March 20, 2000, Mr. Milks committed the offense of lewd or lascivious molestation.

Mr. Milks entered a no contest plea (R 89-96) and was sentenced to imprisonment for 6.5 years (R 41). The state filed a notice of its intent to have Mr. Milks declared a sexual predator (R 45). Mr. Milks moved to dismiss the notice (R 46-47) and filed a memorandum in support of the motion (R 48-63). In these pleadings, Mr. Milks asserted the unconstitutionality of Florida's statutory scheme relating to sexual predators.

At the hearing on the state's request to have Mr. Milks declared a sexual predator, Mr. Milks' counsel orally argued the constitutional issues (R 73-77, 79-81). The court rejected Mr. Milks' arguments (R 81-82), denying Mr. Milks' objection (R 82) and concluding, "So, I'm specifically passing upon the

constitutionality of the sexual predator statute and find that the mandatory features of the sexual predator statute are constitutional and are within the legislature's discretion (R 82)." Subsequently, the court declared Mr. Milks to be a sexual predator (R 84) and entered a written order to that effect (R 70).

On appeal, the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the order of the trial court. *Milks v. State*, 848 So. 2d 1167 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003). This proceeding follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida Sexual Predators Act requires that offenders who meet the statutory criteria must be designated as sexual predators and must therefore be subjected to the act's extensive burdens and severe public stigma. This is true regardless of whether or not a particular offender poses a threat to the community. The sweeping approach taken by the legislature in designating *all* offenders who meet the criteria to be sexual predators, without giving them the opportunity for a hearing on the question of whether they in fact pose a danger, violates both procedural and substantive due process, as well as equal protection.

Procedural due process claims are examined in two steps, the first of which asks whether there exists a liberty or property interest which has been interfered with by the state and the

second of which examines whether the procedures attendant upon that deprivation were constitutionally sufficient.

In determining whether a liberty or property interest has been implicated when governmental action damages a person's reputation, the courts employ the "stigma plus" test, which requires a showing of governmental defamation that is sufficiently derogatory to injure a person's reputation and some tangible and material state-imposed burden or alteration of the individual's status or of a right.

That test was met here. Clearly, the act of being labeled a "sexual predator" results in a stigma. Moreover, the Sexual Predators Act imposes lifelong registration requirements, limits employment possibilities, restricts the right to tort remedies, and infringes on the right to privacy. Thus, the plus prong of the "stigma plus" test has also been met and it is apparent that the act interferes with liberty or property interests.

Once this conclusion is reached, it is apparent that procedural due process has been violated because the act provides for no process whatsoever, instead establishing an automatic determination of sexual predator status.

The decision in *Connecticut Dept. of Public Safety v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 1, 123 S.Ct. 1160, 155 L.Ed. 2d 98 (2003), does not change this conclusion. In *Doe*, the Court found that procedural due process did not mandate a hearing when dangerousness was not

material under the Connecticut statute at issue. In Florida, by contrast, the legislature made it quite clear that its purpose in enacting the Sexual Predators Act was to protect the public from dangerous individuals, not to impose the act's burdens on all persons convicted of certain offenses, regardless of dangerousness.

Should it be found that the rationale of *Doe* applies to the act, however, it would have to be concluded that the act is invalid under a substantive due process analysis. The Court in *Doe* suggested that the lack of a hearing might constitute such a constitutional violation, but did not reach the issue. The factors forming the basis for the procedural due process argument, especially the fundamental rights involved and the fact that the act's purpose is to protect the public, must be weighed in light of the fact that the state has no interest whatsoever in imposing the act's burdens on individuals who are not dangerous and the fact that the state could have achieved its purpose through the less restrictive alternative of providing for a hearing on the issue of dangerousness.

In addition, the act violates equal protection. It allows defendants to escape its requirements when it is apparent from the record that their offenses lacked a sexual component and that they therefore do not present a danger of committing future sexual offenses. It does not, however, allow other similarly

situated defendants to establish the facts of their case when those facts do not appear in the record. The Court in *Doe* did not address this issue either, but Justice Souter, joined by Justice Ginsburg, wrote a concurring opinion that suggested that the Connecticut statute might be subject to an equal protection challenge because only certain offenders were allowed the possibility of avoiding its requirements. The attack alluded to by Justices Souter and Ginsburg is entirely consistent with Florida law finding irrebuttable presumptions to be invalid. It demonstrates that the Sexual Predators Act is a violation of equal protection.

Finally, in leaving the trial court with no discretion to determine whether the declaration that an individual is a sexual predator is necessary for the protection of the public, Florida's statutory scheme also violates the separation of powers clause in Article II, Section 3 of the Florida Constitution.

The statute here wrests from trial courts the final discretion to decide whether an offender should be declared a sexual predator. Analogous situations demonstrate that when such discretion is absent, a constitutional violation occurs.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. MILKS OBJECTION TO THE APPLICABILITY OF FLORIDA'S SEXUAL PREDATOR ACT AND IN DECLARING MR. MILKS TO BE A SEXUAL PREDATOR WHEN THE ACT VIOLATES BOTH PROCEDURAL AND SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS, AS WELL AS EQUAL PROTECTION, UNDER BOTH THE FEDERAL AND FLORIDA CONSTITUTIONS, BY NOT PROVIDING FOR A HEARING ON THE QUESTION OF WHETHER AN OFFENDER IS A DANGER TO THE COMMUNITY AND WHEN THE ACT VIOLATES THE SEPARATION OF POWERS PROVISION OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

A The Florida Sexual Predators Act

The Florida Sexual Predators Act provides that a defendant convicted of any of several offenses who meets the statute's criteria "shall be designated as a 'sexual predator.'" Section 775.21(4)(a), Florida Statutes. As noted in *Robinson v. State*, 804 So. 2d 451, 452 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), "[t]here is no ambiguity in this particular section; if the defendant meets the substantive criteria for the designation of a sexual predator, the court must designate him so." Thus, when a defendant has the prerequisite criminal conviction, a trial court is required to enter a finding of sexual predator status. *Espindola v. State*, 855 So. 2d 1281, 1284 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003); *State v. Curtin*, 764 So. 2d 645, 647 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). Indeed, the granting of a motion to declare an individual a sexual predator has been deemed merely "perfunctory." *Espindola*, 855 So. 2d at 1284; *Thomas v. State*, 716 So. 2d 789 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998).

The designation has a major impact on offenders who are subjected to it. Once designated, extensive burdens and a severe public stigma attach to offenders. For instance, they are subjected to registration requirements, Section 775.21(6), Florida Statutes,¹ for the duration of their lives. Section

¹ Within 48 hours of establishing a residence, the offender must personally go to the offices of the Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE), or, alternatively, the sheriff's office, and, within 48 additional hours, of the Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles, to register. Section 775.21(6)(e), 775.21(6)(f), Florida Statutes; *Espindola*, 855 So. 2d at 1285. Upon registration, an offender must provide his or her name, age, race, sex, date of birth, height, weight, hair and eye color, a photograph, address of legal residence, address of any current temporary residence, a brief description of the crimes committed by the offender, and

б

775.021(6)(1), Florida Statutes. Moreover, the sexual predator registration list is a public record, Section 775.21(6)(k)2., Florida Statutes, and the information is widely disseminated to the community and the public. Section 775.21(7), Florida Offenders must obtain driver's Statutes. licenses or identification cards and identify themselves as sexual predators as part of that process. Section 775.21(6)(f), Florida Statutes. They must report to sheriffs when they move. Section 775.21(6)(i), Florida Statutes. Failure of offenders to comply with the sexual predator requirements is a criminal offense. Section 775.21(10), Florida Statutes.

Moreover, the act prohibits specific offenders from working "at any business, school, day care center, park, playground, or other place where children regularly congregate" Section 775.21(10)(b), Florida Statutes.²

The act also requires FDLE to take offenders' registration information and photograph and place it on the internet for worldwide distribution, Section 775.21(7)(c), Florida Statutes, and requires county law enforcement to provide the same information to the public through other means. Section 775.21(7)(a), Florida Statutes. In addition, it provides broad immunity to anyone acting in good faith in the implementation of the act's notification requirements. Section 775.21(9), Florida Statutes.

The act, however, does not provide for a hearing on the question of whether an individual upon whom it is being brought to bear poses a danger to the community. This failure violates Mr. Milks' procedural and substantive due process rights, as well as his right to equal protection, under both the federal and Florida constitutions. Moreover, the act violates the separation of powers provision of the Florida Constitution. Thus, the trial court erred in denying Mr. Milks' objection to the act's applicability to him.³

genetic material. Section 775.21(6)(a)1., Florida Statutes; Espindola, 855 So. 2d at 1285.

² This prohibition applies to Mr. Milks, who was convicted of violating Section 800.04, Florida Statutes, one of the offenses specified in the above provision.

³ This matter should be reviewed *de novo*. As noted in *Ocala Breeders' Sales Co. v. Florida Gaming Centers, Inc.*, 731 So. 2d 21, 24 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), "A trial court's decision on the constitutionality of a state statute presents an issue of law that is reviewed by the *de novo* standard of review."

B Procedural Due Process

Procedural due process claims are to be examined "in two steps: the first asks whether there exists a liberty or property interest which has been interfered with by the State; ... the second examines whether the procedures attendant upon that deprivation were constitutionally sufficient." *Kentucky Dept. of Corrections v. Thompson*, 490 U.S. 454, 460, 109 S.Ct. 1904, 1908, 104 L.Ed. 2d 506, 514 (1989) (citations omitted).

1 Liberty or Property Interest

In answering the question of whether a liberty or property interest has been implicated when governmental action damages a person's reputation, the courts employ the "stigma plus" test to determine whether procedural due process rights are triggered. This test, which arose from the decision in *Paul v. Davis*, 424 U.S. 693, 96 S.Ct. 1155, 47 L.Ed. 2d 405 (1976), requires a showing of governmental defamation that is sufficiently derogatory to injure a person's reputation and some tangible and material state-imposed burden or alteration of the individual's status or of a right.

a Stigma

There can be no question that the "stigma" portion of this test has been met here. Clearly, the act of being labeled a "sexual predator" results in a stigma. Espindola, 855 So. 2d at 1287. See also Fullmer v. Michigan Dept. of State Police, 207 F.Supp. 2d 650, 659 (E.D. Mich. 2002) (plaintiff met first prong of "stigma plus" due to stigma associated with being falsely labeled as a danger to the community when registry included both currently dangerous offenders and those who are not likely to become dangerous again); Doe #1 v. Williams, 167 F.Supp. 2d 45, 51 (D.D.C. 2001) ("It is beyond dispute that public notification pursuant to the [District of Columbia sex offender registry] results in stigma); Doe v. Pryor, 61 F. Supp. 2d 1224, 1231 (M.D. Ala. 1999) ("While it might seem that a convicted felon could have little left of his good name, community notification ... will inflict a greater stigma than would result from conviction alone" because "[n]otification will clearly brand the plaintiff as a 'criminal sex offender' ... --a 'badge of infamy' that ... strongly implies that he is a likely recidivist and a danger to his community."); Doe v. Pataki, 3 F. Supp. 2d 456, 468 (S.D.N.Y. 1998) (because information required by the New York State Sex Offender Registration Act "is likely to carry with it shame, humiliation, ostracism, loss of employment and decreased opportunities for employment, perhaps even physical violence, and a multitude of other adverse consequences[,] ... there is no genuine dispute that the dissemination of the information

contemplated by the Act to the community at large is potentially harmful to plaintiffs' personal reputations.").

b Plus

Mr. Milks submits that the "plus" aspect of the test has also been met. As discussed above, the Sexual Predators Act imposes lifelong registration requirements on him, limits his employment possibilities, and restricts his right to seek tort remedies. The court in *Espindola* found that these factors satisfied the plus prong, 855 So. 2d at 1288, noting that in *Paul v. Davis*, employment was a specifically mentioned "plus" factor. *Id. See Paul v. Davis*, 424 U.S. at 701, 96 S.Ct. at 1161, 47 L.Ed. 2d at 414. *See also Collie v. State*, 710 So. 2d 1000, 1012 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) (finding that employment restrictions infringe on a constitutionally protected liberty interest).

Courts from other jurisdictions have reached the same conclusion with regard to the same or similar factors. For instance, in Doe v. Pataki, the court indicated that registration requirements "place a 'tangible burden' on plaintiffs, potentially for the rest of their lives." 3 F.Supp. 2d at 468 Similarly, the court in Fullmer found the (citation omitted). plus prong satisfied as the result of "the obligations of registration and the attendant penalties for non-compliance." 207 F.Supp. at 660. Likewise, in Doe v. Attorney General, 426 Mass. 136, 686 N.E. 2d 1007, 1012 (1997), the court found that registration pursuant to the Massachusetts sex offender act "creates the reasonable possibility that [the registrant] will suffer adverse economic consequences from the disclosure of his new status in addition to the derision of people in the community." Also, in W.P. v. Portiz, 931 F. Supp. 1199, 1219 (D.N.J. 1996), the court concluded that the plus prong could be met "by coupling the reputational damage with the loss of employment opportunities or ... the continuing legal status as a registrant and the duties imposed as a result." Further, in Noble v. Board of Parole, 327 Or. 485, 496, 964 P.2d 990, 995-996 (1998), the court indicated that a decision to designate an individual as a predatory sex offender involves "an interest in avoiding the social ostracism, loss of employment opportunities, and significant likelihood of verbal and, perhaps, even physical harassment likely to follow from designation" and concluded that "that interest, when combined with the obvious reputational interest that is at stake, qualifies as a 'liberty' interest within the Due Process Clause."

Also discussing the concerns regarding the restrictions on employment was the dissenting opinion of Judge Benton in *Therrien* v. *State*, ____ So. 2d ____, 28 Fla. L. Weekly D2704 (Fla. 1st DCA Nov. 25, 2003), which recognized that "[t]he right to pursue a career has been held to be a liberty interest protected by the Due Process Clause," *id.* at D2706, that "[t]he Florida Constitution, no less than the federal constitution, protects the right to earn a livelihood in a lawful occupation (citations omitted)," *id.*, that "[i]n addition to recognizing the general right to earn a livelihood, 'various courts have specifically recognized the ability to pursue employment in the child care field as a constitutionally protected liberty interest (citation omitted)," *id.*, and that "[w]hile the right to work in one's chosen profession is not absolute, it cannot be taken away without due process of law." *Id.*

Moreover, the employment impact of Florida's law on Mr. Milks is not limited to the face of the statute. As noted in *Doe v. Pryor*, 61 F.Supp. 2d at 1232 (citation omitted), it will

"foreclose his freedom to take advantage of housing and employment opportunities well beyond those expressly forbidden. There can be little doubt that prospective employers and sellers or lessors of real estate will think twice before doing business with an individual deemed to be a likely recidivist and a danger to his community, and, because the Act allows government officials to notify communities through the local media and the Internet, [4] it is likely that at least some of these prospective business partners will become aware of the State's warning. To the extent that such opportunities are foreclosed, the plaintiff will have satisfied the 'plus' part of the stigma-plus test." [5]

See also State v. Bani, 97 Hawai'i 285, 295, 36 P.3d 1255, 1265 (2001) ("Potential employers and landlords will foreseeably be reluctant to employ or rent to Bani once they learn of his status as a `sex offender.'").

⁴ As noted previously, the Florida statute also requires local notifications of a registrant's presence in a community, Section 775.21(7)(a), Florida Statutes, and notification through the internet. Section 775.21(7)(c), Florida Statutes.

⁵ To the extent that *Doe v. Pryor* discusses the foreclosure of housing opportunities as well as those related to employment, it demonstrates an additional factor in support of the conclusion that the plus part of the test has been met.

In addition the matters relied upon in *Espindola*, Mr. Milks asserts that the infringement on his right to privacy also supports the conclusion he urges here. Although much of the information disseminated to the public pursuant to Florida law is public record, not all of it is. Notably, a registrant is required to provide his or her address of legal residence and address of any current temporary address. Section 775.21(6)(a)1., Florida Statutes.

This consideration was discussed in Doe v. Pryor, 61 F.Supp.

at 1232 (footnote omitted):

Third, and finally, the Community Notification Act will deprive the plaintiff of a legitimate privacy interest in his home address. The Act mandates disclosure of the plaintiff's home address when notifying his community, see 1975 Ala.Code § 15-20-21(a)(2), and the Eleventh Circuit has repeatedly held that individuals important privacy interest" have "an in such O'Kane v. United States Customs Serv., information. 169 F.3d 1308, 1310 (11th Cir. 1999) (per curiam); accord Federal Labor Relations Auth. v. United States Dep't of Defense, 977 F.2d 545, 549 (11th Cir. 1992); cf. United States Dep't of Defense v. Fed. Labor Relations Auth., 510 U.S. 487, 501, 114 S.Ct. 1006, 1015, 127 L.Ed.2d 325 (1994) (holding that individuals have a "nontrivial privacy interest" in nondisclosure of their home addresses). It is true, of course, that home addresses are sometimes available in telephone directories, voter registration lists, and other public records. But "[j]ust because the information 'is not wholly "private" does not mean that a person has no interest in limiting disclosure or dissemination of the information.'" Federal Labor Relations Auth. v. United States Dep't of Defense, 977 F.2d at 549 (quoting Department of Justice v. Reporters Comm. For Freedom of Press, 489 U.S. 749, 770, 109 S.Ct. 1468, 1480, 103 L.Ed.2d 774 (1989)); accord United States Dep't of Defense v. Fed. Labor Relations Auth., 510 U.S. at 500,

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