IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

EVERETT WARD MILKS,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. SC03-1321 L.T. No. 2D02-460

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
STATE OF FLORIDA

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT J. KRAUSS
Chief-Assistant Attorney General
Chief of Criminal Law, Tampa
Florida Bar No. 0238538

KATHERINE V. BLANCO Sr. Assistant Attorney General

Florida Bar No. 0327832 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 (813) 287-7900

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

C. The Act Is Not Facially Unconstitutional

The Espindola court appeared to hold that the Act is facially unconstitutional. However, a facial challenge to a statute "must establish that no set of circumstances exists under which the Act would be valid." United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739, 745 (1987). There are circumstances in which the Act can be validly applied. The Espindola opinion, that the sexual predator designation improperly stigmatized someone, even if arguably true in some circumstances, would be demonstrably untrue in others. For instance, the employment restrictions set forth in § 775.21(10)(b), apply to enumerated offenses therein, but, the enumerated offenses do not include all offenses which would result in an individual being designated a sexual predator. Compare, § 775.21(4)(a)1.b. and § 775.21(10)(b),

Florida Statutes.⁶ Individuals may also be unemployable in the enumerated occupations for reasons independent of the employment restrictions in § 775.21, thus demonstrating that the Act is not unconstitutional in all of its possible applications. In still other circumstances criminal defendants, as part of their criminal case plea agreements, may acknowledge that they are "dangerous" sex offenders, thereby eliminating any conceivable basis for the defamatory stigma which serves as the linchpin for the Third District's opinion in *Espindola*.

Yet another instance where the Act, at a minimum, might remain constitutional absent a hearing to determine dangerousness is in the context of those individuals who are designated sexual predators under the Act as a result of having at least two convictions, thereby demonstrating their actual recidivism.

D. Severability

Even if this Court concludes that the Act is facially unconstitutional, the Court should consider whether the problematic provisions are severable. As set forth in Cramp v. Board of Public Instruction of Orange County, 137 So. 2d 828,

 $^{^6}$ Subsection (4)(a)1.b includes enumerated qualifying offenses of §§ 825.1025 and 847.0135, neither of which qualify for the employment restrictions which are a fundamental part of the panel's analysis.

When a part of a statute is declared unconstitutional the remainder of the act will be permitted to stand provided: (1) the unconstitutional provisions can be separated from the remaining valid provisions, (2) the legislative purpose expressed in the valid provisions can be accomplished independently of those which are void, (3) the good and the bad features are not so inseparable in substance that it can be said that the Legislature would have passed the one without the other and, (4) an act complete in itself remains after the invalid provisions are stricken.

As suggested by Judge Cope in *Espindola*, to the extent this Court believes the term "predator" causes a stigma, this term can be excised while leaving the remainder of the Act intact. *Espindola*, 855 So. 2d at 1292. (Cope, J., concurring and dissenting).

Further, to the extent the Court deems the employment restrictions or tort immunity problematic, these provisions could be severed. The Act existed for several years prior to the addition of the employment restrictions in 1996. See ch. 96-388, s. 61, Laws of Florida. The legislative purposes set forth in the preliminary portions of the Act make clear the

 $^{^7}$ See § 775.21(3), Fla. Stat., emphasizing the threat of sexual predators to the public safety, and the justification, based on that threat, for public policies including incarceration, supervision, registration, notification, and employment restrictions.

Legislature intended the registration and notification requirements to remain in effect independent of the employment restrictions. This conclusion is corroborated by the fact that other independent statutory provisions effectively limit the ability of convicted sex offenders to obtain employment in settings where children congregate. Likewise, it would be possible to sever the tort liability limitation since this provision appears to have little, if any, practical effect, as comparable limitations are otherwise in effect as discussed in Section I.B.2.c. of this brief.

II. UNPRESERVED CONSTITUTIONAL CLAIMS

Substantive Due Process / Privacy / Equal Protection

Petitioner's current substantive due process claim was not raised in the trial court or the Second District Court. In fact, the trial court specifically noted that he was "not being called upon to pass upon the substantive nature" of the Sexual Predator Act. (R81-82) On direct appeal, the Second District Court also found that petitioner "has not raised" a substantive due process claim. Milks, 848 So. 2d at 1169.

In Doe, although the defendant's arguments were couched in terms of procedural due process, the Supreme Court found that such analysis was irrelevant where the state statute did not hinge on any current factual issues: In short, even if respondent could prove that he is not likely to be currently dangerous, Connecticut has decided that the registry information of all sex offenders - currently dangerous or not - must be publicly disclosed. Unless respondent can show that the substantive rule of law is defective (by conflicting with a provision of the Constitution), any hearing on current dangerousness is a bootless exercise.

Doe, 123 S.Ct. 1160, at 1164

Any challenge to the statute must be viewed solely as a question of the validity of the right of the State to draw such a classification. If the legislative classification is valid, as a matter of substantive due process, then the statute is constitutionally valid without any entitlement to a procedural due process hearing. Just as the United States Supreme Court declined to address any substantive due process claim in Doe because it was not properly before it, any alleged substantive due process challenge has not been fairly presented to the trial court and district court in this case. Claims regarding the validity of state statutes in terms of substantive due process are more appropriately addressed by trial courts as courts of first impression.

Moreover, in addressing substantive due process challenges, this Court has stated that "[t]he test for determining whether a statute . . . violates substantive due process is whether it

bears a reasonable relationship to a permissive legislative objective and is not discriminatory, arbitrary, or oppressive."

Ilkanic v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 705 So.2 d 1371, 1372 (Fla. 1998). Questions of substantive due process are inextricably intertwined with an element of factual development, and that is a matter best left for a trial court, as a matter of first impression. "Constitutional cases argued in terms of due process typically involve reliance upon legislative facts for their proper resolution." See, McCormick on Evidence (5th ed.), § 331.

In Trushin v. State, 425 So. 2d 1128 (Fla. 1983), this Court held that although the facial validity of a statute may be asserted for the first time on appeal, the "constitutional application of a statute to a particular set of facts . . . must be raised at the trial level." See also, Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) (for an issue to be cognizable on appeal it must be the specific contention asserted below as the ground for objection). Assuming, arguendo, that the petitioner's substantive due process argument may be addressed for the first time in this Court, petitioner's claim still must

 $^{^{8}}$ However, as reiterated by this Court in Westerheide v. State, 831 So. 2d 93, 105 (Fla. 2002) n. 16, to the extent that a defendant's due process claims turn on factual disputes, such claims should have been presented to the trial court and will not be addressed for the first time on review by this Court.

fail for the following reasons.

Essentially, petitioner contends that the statute violates substantive due process because the nature of his privacy interests allegedly outweighs the State's interest in the legislation and the State has not narrowly drawn the statute to further its interests. In assessing the constitutionality of a statute, this Court is bound "to resolve all doubts as to the validity of [the] statute in favor of its constitutionality, provided the statute may be given a fair construction that is consistent with the federal and state constitutions as well as with the legislative intent." State v. Stalder, 630 So. 2d 1072, 1076 (Fla. 1994) (quoting State v. Elder, 382 So. 2d 687, 690 (Fla. 1980). The critical inquiry in a substantive due process analysis is whether the legislation bears a reasonable relationship to a permissive legislative objective and is not discriminatory, arbitrary, or oppressive. See, Ilkanic v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 705 So. 2d 1371 (Fla. 1998). The legislative intent expressed in the Sexual Predator Act is quite compelling:

Repeat sexual offenders, sexual offenders who use physical violence, and sexual offenders who prey on children are sexual predators who present an extreme threat to the public safety. Sexual offenders are extremely likely to use physical violence and to repeat their offenses, and most sexual offenders commit many offenses, have many more victims than are ever reported, and are prosecuted for only a fraction

of their crimes. This makes the cost of sexual offender victimization to society at large, while incalculable, clearly exorbitant.

§ 775.21(3)(a), Fla. Stat. As the statute further notes, the high level of threat that a sexual predator presents to the public safety, and the long-term effects suffered by victims of sex offenses, provide the State with sufficient justification to implement the requirements of the Sexual Predators Act. §775.21(3)(b), Fla. Stat. Indeed, the petitioner commends the legislature's desire to protect the public as "certainly laudable." (Brief of Petitioner on the Merits at 21). Concerns about sexual offenders who prey on children and recidivism for sex offenders are valid legislative concerns. See, McKune v. Lile, 122 S.Ct. 2017, 2024 (2002) ("when convicted sex offenders reenter society, they are much more likely than any other type offender to be rearrested for a new rape or sexual of assault."); See also, Illinois v. J.R. (In re J.R.), 793 N.E. 2d (Ill. App. 2003) (rejecting substantive due process challenges to similar act).

As a practical matter, the information to be distributed under the Act is all a matter of public record, therefore, a defendant can have no reasonable expectation of privacy in it. See, § 119.01, Fla. Stat. For example, the same information may be obtained from other existing public records, including the

court files, the arrest report, and various license and registration records. The dissemination of the identical public information via the FDLE website does not violate any constitutionally protected interest. In Reyes, the Fourth District rejected the defendant's similar substantive due process "privacy" challenge, and set forth the following cogent rationale,

. . . Whether a statute violates the right to privacy requires evaluation under a compelling state interest standard. Bd. of County Comm'rs of Palm Beach Cty. v. D.B., 784 So. 2d 585 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001). In Doe v. Poritz, 142 N.J. 1, 662 A.2d 367, 407 (1995), the Supreme Court of New Jersey held that its version of the Act did not violate an offender's right to privacy because the information disclosed was public information.

Even assuming, however, that the information disclosed pursuant to the Act is private under the federal or Florida constitutions, the stated and patent public purpose of the Act is a sufficiently compelling state interest justifying such an intrusion on privacy. See Jackson v. State, 833 So.2d 243 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). Here, the legislature has expressly articulated the purpose of the Act in section 775.21(3), recognizing:

- (a) Repeat sexual offenders, sexual offenders who use physical violence, and sexual offenders who prey on children are sexual predators who present an extreme threat to the public safety. Sexual offenders are extremely likely to use physical violence and to repeat their offenses, and most sexual offenders commit many offenses, have many more victims than are ever reported, and are prosecuted for only a fraction of their crimes. This makes the cost of sexual offender victimization to society at large, while incalculable, clearly exorbitant.
- (b) The high level of threat that a sexual predator

presents to the public safety, and the long-term effects suffered by victims of sex offenses, provide the state with sufficient justification to implement a strategy that includes:

* * *

- 3. Requiring the registration of sexual predators, with a requirement that complete and accurate information be maintained and accessible for use by law enforcement authorities, communities, and the public.
- 4. Providing for community and public notification concerning the presence of sexual predators.
- 5. Prohibiting sexual predators from working with children, either for compensation or as a volunteer.
- (c) The state has a compelling interest in protecting the public from sexual predators and in protecting children from predatory sexual activity, and there is sufficient justification for requiring sexual predators to register and for requiring community and public notification of the presence of sexual predators.

Here, as the state has a compelling interest in notifying the public of the release of sexual predators into their community, we conclude that the Act does not violate the offender's right to privacy.

Reyes, 854 So. 2d at 817

See also, Johnson v. State, 795 So. 2d 82 (Fla. 5^{th} DCA 2000)(holding that the sexual offender registration and notification statutes did not violate Johnson's right to privacy).

Petitioner concedes that his equal protection claim was not presented below. (See, Brief of Petitioner on the Merits, fn. 16, at 37). Petitioner's equal protection/irrebuttable

presumption claim is not only procedurally barred, but also without merit. The Equal Protection Clause "commands that no State shall 'deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of laws,' which is essentially a direction that all persons similarly situated should be treated alike." Raines v. State, 805 So. 2d 999, 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), citing City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr., 473 U.S. 432, 439, 105 S.Ct. 3249, 87 L.Ed.2d 313 (1985). "The general rule [for equal protection] is that legislation is presumed to be valid and will be sustained if the classification drawn by the statute is rationally related to a legitimate state interest." Id. at 440, 105 S.Ct. 3249." Raines, 805 So. 2d at 1002. Furthermore, as this Court noted in Westerheide, "the equal protection clause is only concerned with whether the classification pursuant to a particular legislative enactment is properly drawn. Procedural due process is the constitutional guarantee involved with a determination of whether a specific individual is placed within a classification." Id. at 111, citations omitted.

In support of his unpreserved equal protection claim, the petitioner relies, in part, on *Robinson v. State*, 804 So. 2d 451 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) and *Raines*. However, neither *Robinson* nor *Raines* credibly benefit this petitioner. In *Robinson*, the Court held that the Sexual Predators Act was unconstitutionally

overinclusive as applied to Robinson, because it proscribed offenses that were not sexual in nature. In Raines, the Court found that the sexual offender registration statute violated equal protection, as applied, in classifying Raines as a "sexual offender," when he was not convicted of an offense involving any sexual component. However, as recognized in Raines, "[w]ithout question, the state has an interest in protecting the public from sexual offenders." Ch. 2000-246, § 3 Laws of Fla. Id. at 1002.

In this case, the petitioner does not, and cannot, dispute that he fairly qualifies for designation as a sexual predator based on his conviction for the lewd/lascivious molestation of a child less than 12 years of age. The designation of a person as a sexual offender is rationally related to that goal where an accused, like this petitioner, has been convicted of lewd/lascivious molestation of a minor child. Moreover, contrary to the petitioner's current arguments, the irrebuttable presumption doctrine is of limited application in light of Weinberger v. Salfi, 422 U.S. 749,777 (1975). See, Black v. Snow, 272 F. Supp.2d 21 (D.C. Dist. Ct. 2003). This Court also has applied Salfi to defeat arguments similar to the unpreserved claim now advanced by the petitioner. See, Gallie v. Wainwright, 362 So. 2d 936, 943-944 (Fla. 1978) (relying on Salfi and finding

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